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THE JUSTICES



Chief Justice Harlan Fiske Stone (associate justice 1925–1941, chief justice 1941–1946): Raised on a farm in Massachusetts, Stone excelled as a student and football player at Amherst, where his circle of friends included the future President Calvin Coolidge. He was a professor and dean at Columbia Law School, as well as a Wall Street lawyer, before Coolidge appointed him Attorney General and then Associate Justice in 1925. Expected to be a defender of business interests on the Court, Stone opposed the Supreme Court’s pre-1937 pervasive rejection of social and economic legislation. In the summer of 1941, President Franklin D. Roosevelt promoted him to Chief Justice.


Justice Hugo Black (1937–1971): Black grew up in modest circumstances in Alabama and became a leading trial lawyer in Birmingham. Elected to the Senate in 1926, he emerged as a populist champion and then a New Deal supporter. FDR selected him as his first Supreme Court appointment in 1937. Shortly after Black’s confirmation, a national controversy erupted about his past membership in the Ku Klux Klan.


Justice James F. Byrnes (1941–1942): Byrnes was a South Carolina Senator and close political ally of FDR when the President named him to the Supreme Court in the summer of 1941. Byrnes left the Court after only one year and joined FDR in the White House as “Assistant President” overseeing the wartime economy.


Justice William O. Douglas (1939–1975): Douglas spent his youth and college years in Washington State. He went east to attend Columbia Law School and became an acclaimed law professor specializing in business regulation at Columbia and Yale Law Schools. One of the first chairs of the new Securities and Exchange Commission, Douglas was named to the Supreme Court by FDR in 1939, when he was only forty years old. FDR favored Douglas to be his running mate in the 1944 presidential election.


Justice Felix Frankfurter (1939–1962): A native of Austria, Frankfurter emigrated to the United States at the age of eleven not knowing a word of English. After graduating from the City College of New York, he was a superstar student at Harvard Law School and then served in a series of high-level government jobs before becoming a Harvard Law professor. Frankfurter first got to know FDR when they both worked in the Wilson Administration in World War I. The ebullient Frankfurter became a close adviser to Roosevelt when FDR was Governor and President. Frankfurter placed his protégés, nicknamed “Felix’s Happy Hot Dogs,” in key positions throughout the Roosevelt Administration. FDR appointed him to the Supreme Court in 1939.


Justice Robert Jackson (1941–1954): A brilliant lawyer in upstate New York, Jackson attended only one year of law school and served as an apprentice in a law office before joining the bar. He met FDR when Roosevelt was a state senator. FDR brought him into his administration in a succession of posts, including Solicitor General and Attorney General, before appointing him to the Supreme Court in the summer of 1941.


Justice Frank Murphy (1940–1949): Murphy had been Mayor of Detroit, Governor of Michigan, High Commissioner to the Philippines, and FDR’s Attorney General when FDR named him to the Supreme Court in 1940. Murphy was an outspoken social justice champion. A saying gained currency: “The Supreme Court tempers justice with Murphy.”


Justice Stanley Reed (1938–1957): A leading Kentucky lawyer, Reed came to Washington in the Hoover Administration to work on agricultural issues and then joined the Roosevelt Administration. He served as FDR’s embattled Solicitor General when the Supreme Court struck down many New Deal laws and regulations. In 1938, the President selected him to be his second appointment to the Court.


Justice Owen Roberts (1930–1945): The only Justice during World War II who did not owe his position to FDR, Roberts was appointed to the Supreme Court by President Herbert Hoover in 1930. A prominent Philadelphia lawyer, Roberts stepped into the national spotlight in 1924 when Coolidge appointed him as the Special Counsel investigating the Harding Administration’s Teapot Dome scandal. On the Court, Roberts’s perceived change, at the height of FDR’s Court-packing fight, to vote in favor of the constitutionality of social and economic legislation became forever known as “the switch in time that saved nine.”


Justice Wiley Rutledge (1943–1949): Rutledge was FDR’s final appointment, replacing Byrnes when Byrnes resigned to join FDR in the White House. A former law professor and dean at the University of Iowa College of Law, Rutledge attracted FDR’s attention as a prominent supporter of the President’s controversial Court-packing plan. FDR named Rutledge to the District of Columbia Court of Appeals in 1939 and then elevated him to the Supreme Court in 1943.















PROLOGUE



On Monday morning, December 8, 1941, George Hutchinson, an eighteen-year-old library aide, attended to his tasks in the Supreme Court’s ornate building. The “marble palace,” as it was widely known, had opened six years earlier, replacing the cramped room in the Capitol across the street that had long been the Court’s home.


Suddenly there was a commotion. Hutchinson was startled to see armed soldiers burst into the Supreme Court. They quickly moved into sentry positions at the Court windows, weapons prominently displayed. Other soldiers roamed the building and mounted the roof. They had arrived as emergency security for President Franklin D. Roosevelt before his noontime speech to Congress, the address in which FDR would decry the “date which will live in infamy”—Japan’s surprise attack on Pearl Harbor the preceding day.


The country was now at war. And the war had, quite literally, invaded the quiet precincts of the Supreme Court.
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Just a few years prior, FDR had been in a bitter battle with the Supreme Court. It had repeatedly struck down key pieces of New Deal legislation. Frustrated, Roosevelt had sought to enlarge the Court and pack it. His effort encountered bipartisan hostility. But a surprise switched vote flipped his fate. Justice Owen Roberts, an appointee of Herbert Hoover (the incumbent FDR had defeated in the presidential election of 1932), changed his tune, and the Supreme Court began upholding New Deal policy.


By the start of World War II, FDR, benefiting from a wave of retirements, had effectively packed the Court without having to add to the number of Justices. He had appointed seven of the nine and elevated an eighth to Chief Justice. It represented the most Justices appointed by a President since George Washington—and the most sweeping influence by a President on the Court since the first days of the republic.


FDR’s Justices were a fractious crew, plagued by internal rivalries, bitter resentments, and behind-the-curtain feuds. But they were united in their loyalty to the President and frequently jostled for his favor.


The Roosevelt Justices included Hugo Black, an ex-Klansman from Alabama who had become a progressive force; William O. Douglas, a western iconoclast and New Deal wunderkind whom FDR would favor as his running mate in 1944; Robert Jackson, a legal superstar and FDR poker crony; Felix Frankfurter, the cocksure Harvard Law professor with a legion of strategically placed protégés; and Frank Murphy, a social justice champion who had served as Governor of Michigan and Attorney General.


The cases that came before the War Court—the identity the Roosevelt Court quickly assumed—required its Justices to weigh constitutional commitments to civil liberties in the context of a brutal global conflagration. The Justices were not—could not be—divorced from the war effort. Hugo Black had two sons in the military and a wife whose anxiety about them contributed to bouts of severe depression. Frank Murphy enlisted for a brief stint in the military while remaining a Justice. Robert Jackson left for Europe to prosecute the Nuremberg trials. Felix Frankfurter frequently consulted with close friends at the War Department, including his mentor, Henry Stimson, whom he had helped install as Secretary of War.


All of them felt a deep allegiance to FDR. They regarded him as not only their President but also their friend and beloved patron, as he steered the nation through a war that was simultaneously grand, ugly, and profoundly momentous.


World War II was interwoven with every ruling. In some of the Court’s most enduring decisions, the Justices decried the Axis powers’ fascism and bigotry, and historically expanded American liberties as a conspicuous contrast. But in other rulings, particularly when FDR’s actions were challenged, the Court demurred submissively. The Supreme Court and the Executive Branch, designed as two distinct forces in a system of constitutional checks and balances, emerged as allied institutions in wartime.


The Court struck down a forced-sterilization law in Skinner v. Oklahoma, a decision that would powerfully influence later landmark opinions on the right to sexual and reproductive privacy and other personal freedoms. It heard the Barnette case, in which two West Virginia schoolgirls refused to salute the flag out of adherence to their Jehovah’s Witness faith. Ruling in their favor and against the compulsory nationalistic displays of America’s enemies, the Court called the protection of basic liberties a “fixed star in our constitutional constellation.” And the Court found for an African American crusader in Texas who bravely contested the constitutionality of whites-only primaries. His voting-rights victory established a key precedent for later battles for racial equity.


But in other rulings, the Court obsequiously deferred to the President’s authority, citing the unique demands of war. In its most infamous decision, Korematsu, the War Court upheld the shameful incarceration of Japanese Americans. And in its strangest proceeding, spurred by private communications from FDR, the Court upheld a Roosevelt-ordered fast-track military tribunal that summarily tried a group of Nazi spies. The Justices offered no formal explanation until long after the accused saboteurs had been convicted and executed.


Alongside its pathbreaking leadership on civil liberties and civil rights, the Court offered another, darker message: “Discrimination which would ordinarily be abhorrent” to the Constitution was a permissible exercise of the broad war powers of Congress and the President. “Hardships,” the Korematsu decision proclaimed, “are part of war, and war is an aggregation of hardships.”


At the heart of these cases sat the individuals of the American mosaic. There was Jack Skinner, described by a law professor nearly seventy-five years later as “a one-footed chicken thief [who] laid the foundation for marriage equality”; Lonnie Smith, a Black dentist who insisted he had a constitutional right to vote, defended in the High Court by the young Thurgood Marshall; the Barnette sisters, Marie and Gathie, schoolchildren who practiced their faith against government opposition; William Schneiderman, a committed Communist represented at the height of the war by Wendell Willkie, FDR’s Republican opponent in the 1940 presidential election. They would be vindicated, assured that the Constitution and the rule of law provide powerful protections for disfavored Americans.


And then there were the others: Fred Korematsu, who underwent eye surgery in an attempt to disguise his ancestry and avoid the cruelties of incarceration; Gordon Hirabayashi, prosecuted for refusing to obey anti-Japanese orders; and Albert Yakus, sentenced to jail for selling meat that violated wartime rationing rules—the inevitable casualties of war, in the words of the Court.
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When FDR died in April 1945 a few weeks before the Nazi surrender, his Court unraveled and its infighting grew public and vicious. Less than five years after FDR’s death, the Roosevelt Court was no more. Three Justices were dead and a fourth had resigned. Harry Truman had appointed four Justices.


The War Court left an indelible mark on the legal landscape. Its proudest and most enduring contributions vividly highlight the importance of protecting civil liberties in a time of national crisis. And its most objectionable and troubling decisions flowed from the unwillingness of Supreme Court Justices to stand up to the beloved President who appointed them. Both its accomplishments and its failings offer important lessons today, in a time of convulsive change at the Supreme Court.















• chapter one •



WAR CLOUDS


President Franklin Roosevelt and Justice Felix Frankfurter settled in for lunch at the White House on Monday, June 9, 1941. The previous week, Charles Evans Hughes had announced he would retire as Chief Justice. Roosevelt wanted Frankfurter’s advice on the next Chief Justice.


Hughes would be a hard act to follow. With his regal bearing, carefully groomed beard, and judicious manner, Hughes commanded great respect. He also had a wide-ranging and distinguished background. He was ending his second stint on the Supreme Court, having served as a Justice from 1910 to 1916 and then resigning to run as the Republican nominee against Woodrow Wilson in Wilson’s reelection campaign—a race Hughes nearly won. Warren Harding had named him Secretary of State in 1921, and Herbert Hoover had appointed him Chief Justice in 1930. Hughes also had served as Governor of New York from 1907 to 1910; he and his fellow former New York Governor, FDR, teasingly called each other “Governor.”


Public speculation focused on Roosevelt’s Attorney General, Robert Jackson, as the likely next Chief Justice. For good reason. FDR had told Jackson he would like him to head the Court, and FDR and Jackson were close. But Hughes, in a White House lunch with the President shortly after announcing his retirement, had recommended that FDR elevate Justice Harlan Fiske Stone. Stone was the longest-serving Justice, appointed in 1925 by Calvin Coolidge. Though a Republican, Stone had been one of the few Justices before 1937 who had often voted to uphold New Deal legislation. FDR now asked Frankfurter, whom he had appointed to the Court two years previously, for his thoughts.


In the back of their minds as the two men lunched was an all-consuming concern: the dire situation of the war in Europe.
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In June 1941, Nazi Germany ruled Europe—from France to Poland; from Belgium to Greece; from the Netherlands to Czechoslovakia. Mussolini’s Italy obsequiously supported Hitler. Since the fall of France in June 1940, England had stood almost alone in the face of Hitler’s fury and onslaught. By the end of the month, Hitler would invade the Soviet Union as well. Japan, meanwhile, was on the march in Asia, attacking and invading China and Indochina.


FDR had been pushing the American public to support Britain while also navigating around isolationist sentiment. In September 1940, with the authority of a legal opinion by Attorney General Robert Jackson, the President announced a destroyers-for-bases deal. He directed the transfer of old American destroyers to Britain in return for ninety-nine-year leases on eight British military bases in the Western Hemisphere. That same month, the Roosevelt Administration persuaded Congress to pass the first peacetime draft in the nation’s history, requiring conscripts to serve for one year. In March 1941, FDR convinced Congress to enact the Lend-Lease Act, giving him broad authority to provide Allies a wide range of supplies and materiel, with repayment terms set by the President.


But FDR knew that many Americans remained skeptical of foreign entanglement. At a campaign appearance in Boston on October 30, 1940, the President had made a promise to “you mothers and fathers”: “I have said this before, but I shall say it again and again and again. Your boys are not going to be sent into any foreign wars.” A Gallup poll in April 1941 reported that 81 percent of Americans opposed entering the war. But in a telling reminder that poll results can turn on a question’s phrasing, 68 percent supported going to war if it was the only way to defeat Germany and Italy.
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After the waiters left the room, FDR pressed Frankfurter, a frequent visitor and close adviser. The President had been thinking of Jackson for Chief. But Hughes now had recommended Stone. What was Frankfurter’s view?


“On personal grounds,” Frankfurter replied, “I’d prefer Bob [Jackson].… I feel closer friendship with Bob.” And then Frankfurter lowered the boom. “But from the national interest… for me the decisive consideration, considering the fact that Stone is qualified, is that Bob is of your political and personal family, as it were, while Stone is a Republican. Now it doesn’t require prophetic powers to be sure that we shall, sooner or later, be in war—I think sooner. It is most important that when war does come, the country should feel that you are a national, the Nation’s, President, and not a partisan President. Few things would contribute as much to confidence in you as a national and not a partisan President than for you to name a Republican, who has the profession’s confidence, as Chief Justice.”


Characteristically, FDR did not commit himself. But he was persuaded. As Frankfurter well knew, the previous summer FDR had appointed two prominent Republicans to his Cabinet for precisely this reason: Secretary of War Henry Stimson, who had served as Secretary of War in the Taft Administration and Secretary of State in the Hoover Administration, and Secretary of the Navy Frank Knox, a Chicago newspaper publisher who had been Alf Landon’s running mate on the Republican ticket against FDR in 1936. Frankfurter had played a key role in FDR’s appointment of Stimson; Stimson had been an early and important mentor for Frankfurter, appointing him to key positions early in his career when Stimson served as US Attorney for the Southern District of New York and as Secretary of War.


In the days after his lunch with Frankfurter, FDR met with Stone and Jackson. FDR told his Attorney General that he probably would appoint Stone as Chief Justice in the interest of bipartisanship. He also would name Jackson as Associate Justice to take Stone’s place. It seemed likely that Stone’s tenure would be brief—he was sixty-eight—and that Jackson then would become Chief.
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Hughes’s seat was not the only Supreme Court vacancy on FDR’s desk. On February 1, 1941, James McReynolds had retired from the Court. McReynolds had been the last of the “Four Horsemen” to leave the Court—the ultraconservative reactionaries who had formed a solid bloc rejecting progressive economic laws passed by states and the federal government. Public speculation predicted that FDR would appoint South Carolina Senator James F. “Jimmy” Byrnes, a highly effective advocate for FDR in Congress (and FDR’s floor manager at the 1940 Democratic convention).


Byrnes had been a leader in the Senate’s passage of the Lend-Lease Act. As columnists Joseph Alsop and Robert Kintner reported, “The lend-lease law came through the Senate so well as it did, chiefly because of the able management of Byrnes.” Others had played a role as well. When Byrnes’s colleague Senator Claude Pepper wanted advice about drafting the legislation, he consulted an old colleague: Justice Hugo Black, a former Alabama Senator. “We talked about it in his library,” Pepper recalled. “He gave me some very helpful comments that were incorporated in the final version.” Another sitting Justice—Frankfurter—participated even more extensively in shaping the Lend-Lease legislation, working directly with FDR and Stimson.


Byrnes also had memorably castigated famed aviator Charles Lindbergh, a leader of the isolationist “America First” movement. Lindbergh vehemently opposed FDR’s foreign policy. He had argued, in testimony against the Lend-Lease Act, that it would be better for the United States if neither England nor Germany scored a decisive victory. Byrnes ridiculed the world’s most celebrated pilot. Lindbergh knew as much about foreign affairs, observed Byrnes, as Wrong Way Corrigan, the national laughingstock who, in 1938, mistakenly flew to Ireland when he had intended to fly to California.
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On June 12, 1941, the President announced his Supreme Court appointments. Associate Justice Harlan Fiske Stone would become Chief; Attorney General Robert Jackson would take Stone’s Associate Justice seat; Senator Jimmy Byrnes would fill the McReynolds vacancy. Public reaction was favorable. “All three appointments were received with enthusiasm at the Capitol,” reported the Washington Post. “Mr. Roosevelt’s selection of Justice Stone… was seen here as a bid for national unity comparable to the appointment last year of two Republicans as Secretary of War and the Navy.”


In a sign of senatorial courtesy and friendship, within minutes the Senate confirmed their colleague Jimmy Byrnes on a unanimous voice vote (a vote by acclamation without the need for a roll call). After brief Judiciary Committee hearings, Stone and Jackson also were promptly confirmed by voice vote—Stone on June 27 and Jackson on July 7.


It was now, truly, Franklin Roosevelt’s Court. He had appointed seven of the nine Justices—in order of appointment, Senator Hugo Black in 1937; Solicitor General Stanley Reed in 1938; Harvard Law professor and longtime FDR adviser Felix Frankfurter in 1939; Securities and Exchange Commission Chairman William Douglas in 1939; Attorney General Frank Murphy in 1940; and now Byrnes and Jackson. And FDR had elevated an eighth, Stone, to his current position as Chief.


It was an amazing turnaround. In the early years of his Administration, FDR had raged against the Justices’ “horse and buggy” approach and their invalidation of key New Deal programs. On the Supreme Court at that time, only Justices Louis Brandeis, Benjamin Cardozo, and Harlan Fiske Stone tended to support the Roosevelt Administration’s position, occasionally joined by Chief Justice Hughes. FDR’s Court-packing proposal in 1937 had sought to add a seat for every Justice over the age of seventy, but he had encountered fierce opposition, including institutional resistance from the Supreme Court itself, and the bill had faltered. While it was pending, however, Justice Owen Roberts voted to uphold progressive legislation by Congress and the states. His change became forever known as the “switch in time that saved nine.” Although the timing and cause of Roberts’s changed votes continue to be debated, his perceived switch helped take the wind out of the sails of FDR’s Court-packing plan.


Though failing to adopt FDR’s bill to enlarge the Court, Congress passed a little-noticed important companion law. It provided full retirement benefits for any Justice who had reached the age of seventy and served at least ten years. Over the next four years, five Justices retired, all over seventy and all with more than ten years of service; two others died. As a result, FDR was able to put his imprint on the Court in a way far surpassing almost all previous Presidents.


They were not just Roosevelt’s appointees. They had close relationships with him. This intimacy delighted the President but gave rise to concern in some quarters. While generally lauding the three new appointments, the Washington Post editorialized, “All of his nominees, except Justice Stone, have come from his own official family or his own circle of advisers, and the current vacancies are to be filled by his Attorney General and his spokesman in the Senate.… So, in spite of Mr. Stone’s elevation to the Chief Justiceship, the President has laid this tribunal open to the charge of being a New Deal court.”
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FDR immediately deployed his new symbol of national unity: Chief Justice Harlan Fiske Stone. Stone was sworn in by a National Park Service official at his vacation cabin in Estes Park, Colorado, on July 3, 1941. The next day, the Fourth of July, FDR gave a national radio address calling for national preparedness. Invoking the Pledge of Allegiance for inspiration, he said that the country could “never survive as a happy and fertile oasis of liberty surrounded by a cruel desert of dictatorship.… And so it is that when we repeat the great pledge to our country and to our flag, it must be our deep conviction that we pledge as well our work, our will, and, if it be necessary, our very lives.” And then, by prearrangement, the radio networks turned to the new Chief Justice in Colorado, who led the national radio audience in a recitation of the pledge. “It was a pulse-quickening moment,” reported the Associated Press. “A vast unseen audience repeated the words pledging fealty to their flag.”


The official swearing-in ceremonies of Byrnes and Jackson took place in FDR’s White House office. Both were high-spirited events. Byrnes was sworn in on July 8. Although the Senate had immediately confirmed him on June 12, Byrnes had delayed taking his judicial oath so that he could serve as acting Majority Leader in the Senate until the ailing Majority Leader, Alben Barkley, returned. After Byrnes was sworn in, the President eyed the throng of Senators in attendance and boisterously cried, “The Senate is now in session, and galleries may applaud as much as they want.” He said that he wished he could be Solomon and divide Byrnes in two, with one half remaining in the Senate and the other half going on the bench.


Jackson’s White House swearing-in took place a few days later, on July 11, 1941. Immediately before his swearing-in ceremony, Jackson attended his last Cabinet meeting. FDR beamed as New Deal stalwarts and other visitors crowded into his office for Jackson’s swearing-in. They included Roosevelt’s close aides Harry Hopkins and Tommy Corcoran, Jackson’s fellow Supreme Court Justices William O. Douglas and newly installed Jimmy Byrnes, and FBI Director J. Edgar Hoover.








[image: image]















As the official sitting of the new Court neared on the first Monday of October, it was clear it was a very different Supreme Court. In addition to the judicial philosophy of the Roosevelt Justices (which accorded far broader latitude for economic and government regulation), the average age on the Court now was fifty-six, compared with almost seventy-two at the time of FDR’s Court-packing plan. Only two Justices had any judicial experience before joining the Court, and it was minimal. Black had served briefly as a police judge in Birmingham and Murphy as a municipal judge in Detroit, both before launching their political careers as Senator (in Black’s case) and as Mayor and Governor (in Murphy’s). Every detail of the new Court seemed a matter of public interest. With the retirement of the magnificently bearded Hughes, noted one Alabama newspaper, “the Supreme Court will be whiskerless… for the first time in 80 years.” An AP headline summarized the new bench: “Young, Beardless, Liberal.” Highlighting the sense of transition, iconic retired Justice Louis Brandeis died on Sunday, October 5, on the eve of the reconstituted Court’s first official session on the first Monday in October.


Days before the start of the new Supreme Court term, on September 30, FDR hosted now Chief Justice Stone at the White House for a private meeting. The Washington Post reported that “Chief Justice Harlan Stone came in for lunch at the President’s desk, stayed over time.” There is no record of what they discussed.


It was traditional in those days for the President to host the Justices for an afternoon White House reception at the beginning of the Court’s term. The 1941 gathering had an especially buoyant mood. In a sign of FDR’s new ease with the institution he had battled, the President, for the first time, had designated it an informal affair. The Justices arrived in business suits rather than their black judicial robes, and the effervescent Roosevelt likewise wore a suit. “The President yesterday shattered another dressy, rigid precedent,” reported the Washington Post. “Down through the years, the annual Presidential receiving of the Supreme Court justices has been held in the White House Blue Room with the justices in their robes and the President in his frock coat, striped pants and starched shirt. But this year Mr. Roosevelt… decided to rip off the frills.”


The message of the friendly get-together was unmistakable: the war between the White House and the Supreme Court was over.
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The new Court quickly showed its receptivity to constitutional claims against oppressive government actions. Just weeks later, on November 24, 1941, the Supreme Court unanimously struck down a California law making it a crime to bring a nonresident to California if the nonresident was indigent. The Court’s decision in Edwards v. California was momentous in a country still wracked by the Great Depression and its economic devastation. Twenty-seven other states had enacted similar statutes, commonly called “Okie laws” (a reference to the mass exodus from Oklahoma after the Dust Bowl of the 1930s).


The Supreme Court case involved a destitute Texas man, Frank Duncan, whose relatives helped him move to California. Duncan’s brother-in-law, Frank Edwards, was criminally prosecuted for picking Duncan up in Spur, Texas, and driving him back to Edwards’s home in Marysville, California. The Supreme Court opinion by Justice Byrnes—his first as a Justice—struck down the law. The Court ruled that a state’s interference with an individual’s travel from one state to another unconstitutionally interfered with interstate commerce; the decision established the constitutional right to travel. Byrnes’s opinion pointedly rejected the notion that poverty reflected a “moral pestilence.” “Poverty and immorality,” stressed the former New Deal Senator, “are not synonymous.”


Although the Court was unanimous in its result, four Justices indicated they would have taken a different approach. In separate concurrences, Douglas (for himself, Black, and Murphy) and Jackson stressed that they would rest the Court’s decision, not on the interstate commerce ground, but on the principle that the ban on interstate travel for poor people violated the constitutional “privileges or immunities” guaranteed to every citizen by the Fourteenth Amendment. “The right of persons to move freely from State to State,” wrote Douglas, “occupies a more protected position in our constitutional system than does the movement of cattle, fruit, steel and coal across state lines.” And Jackson, immediately showing the style that would earn him a reputation as one of the Court’s greatest writers, observed, “Unless this Court is willing to say that citizenship of the United States means at least this much to the citizen, then our heritage of constitutional privileges and immunities is only a promise to the ear to be broken to the hope, a teasing illusion like a munificent bequest in a pauper’s will.”


The war in Europe provided a dramatic backdrop for the Court’s decision. Edwards’s counsel contrasted the constitutional right to travel in the United States with “the non-democratic states of the world.” Okie laws, he argued, risked turning the forty-eight states into “forty-eight economic concentration camps.” In an amicus brief supporting Edwards, California Congressman John Tolan, chair of a House Select Committee on Interstate Migration, emphasized that “the suspicions, jealousies,… scheming and conniving of one country against the other on the continent of Europe” must not be replicated through interstate travel barriers in the United States; such a balkanized structure would interfere with the need to “prepare for national defense… without regard to State lines.”


When the Court announced the Edwards decision, commentators also viewed it in light of the ongoing global crisis. At a time when “human rights are abridged throughout the world,” the New York Post editorialized, “it is an invigorating fresh breath to find such re-assertion of rights here.” The Washington Post hailed the Court’s repudiation of such “un-American legislation.” And a New Jersey newspaper editorial on the decision proclaimed, “Be Proud You’re American.”
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On May 27, 1941, FDR delivered a nationwide radio address, one of his trademark “fireside chats,” declaring “an unlimited national emergency” and calling for “the strengthening of our defense to the extreme limit of our national power and authority.” He emphasized that the United States would “give every possible assistance to Britain and all who, with Britain, are resisting Hitlerism or its equivalent with force of arms.” But the country continued to be ambivalent, with some bitterly opposed to involvement. In a sign of the continuing divisions, on August 12, 1941, the House of Representatives passed an extension of military draftees’ one-year service by only a single vote in a dramatic 203–202 vote.


In the months after FDR’s “national emergency” speech, the Justices made extraordinary public speeches strongly supporting FDR’s war mobilization. On June 14, 1941, Owen Roberts told a Philadelphia audience that the nation should join in a “unity of sentiment” supporting FDR on defense mobilization; as the “darkness of tyranny spreads westward,” the President “knows better than any of us the gravity of the threat to our security.” Four days later, Frankfurter told students at Radcliffe that the pacifist and isolationist view that “war never settles anything” must be rejected: “The Civil War settled slavery. This war will settle the quality of your lives and your children’s lives.”


The Justices’ speeches on the international situation continued. Stanley Reed exhorted a Bridgeport, Connecticut, gathering on July 14, 1941 that “force must be met by force” and that “now it is for us to show the world that we are a united people.” At a national emergency rally at Madison Square Garden on August 19, 1941, Roberts proclaimed, “We subscribe to every word of the great declaration of the aims of democracy so recently made by our President and the Prime Minister of Great Britain” in the Atlantic Charter, a joint statement issued days before by FDR and Churchill after a secret shipboard meeting. “Every hour’s delay,” he continued, “is fraught with great danger. Now, not tomorrow, we must highly resolve to meet this threat by toil and sacrifice.”


That same day, Frank Murphy, the Court’s only Catholic, told the Knights of Columbus conference in Atlantic City, New Jersey, that its members should support FDR’s “policy of aiding those countries which are offering resistance to the aggression of Nazi Germany”; the antireligious views of the Soviet Union, now fighting the Nazis after Hitler’s June invasion of his former ally, are “not today the greatest danger.” And, four days later, Black emphasized to University of Alabama students in Tuscaloosa that the United States must ensure the victory of freedom—“peaceably if we can, forcibly if we must.”


At least some of these public statements were closely coordinated with the President and the White House. FDR, for example, had enlisted Murphy to speak to the Knights of Columbus and promptly let him know that he was “tickled to death” by Murphy’s comments. Even when there was no direct coordination, the Justices knew that they were publicly and vigorously rallying support for the President on his highest priority.


The prospect of Justices taking to the hustings to advance the President’s policy on a matter of intense public debate was an overt sign of political support unimaginable in later years. The Supreme Court—and the federal judiciary generally—is intended in our separation of powers to be an independent branch and an important element of checks and balances, not an auxiliary unit furthering political and policy goals, however laudable.


The Justices’ public statements continued. On September 26, 1941, Douglas told the Civitan Club of Atlanta that “the sons of freedom are aligned against the hosts of tyranny”; the American defense initiative must be a “total effort, whether we are workers in an airplane factory, farmers, housewives, business executives or government officials.” And Robert Jackson told the American Bar Association in Indianapolis on October 2, 1941, that twenty centuries of civilization would not be “worth a tinker’s damn” unless “the sort of thing the world now witnesse[d]” could be stopped.


The Justices’ families also became involved in support for victims of the attacks by the Axis powers (Germany, Italy, and Japan). Jackson’s son William, according to a press account, “had been in England at the beginning of the Battle of London and had served in the British Ambulance Corps.… His duties were to go out after air raids to pick up casualties and bring them to hospitals.”


Felix and Marion Frankfurter, who had no children of their own, had been hosting three lively English children—Ann, Venetia, and Oliver Gates—since the summer of 1940. Their father, Sylvester Gates, was a barrister who had been a Frankfurter protégé at Harvard Law School; he and his wife reluctantly but gratefully accepted the Frankfurters’ offer to care for the children and provide them with shelter from the Nazis’ bombing raids on England. The Frankfurters regularly brought their British charges to see the President, who delighted in their antics.


The Justices’ spouses threw themselves into war relief efforts—Agnes Stone in an organization providing relief for Yugoslav refugees; Elizabeth Roberts in a “Piccadilly Arcade” to raise money for the Royal Air Force Benevolent Fund; Winifred Reed in Bundles for Britain and Overcoats for Britain; Marion Frankfurter in an organization helping women serve in national defense. “What did we do with our time before there was a war in Europe?” Mildred Douglas asked a Washington Post reporter.
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As the year progressed, it seemed that some Justices might move off the Court and into war-related government service. Reporters raised the possibility that Murphy might leave for a position as High Commissioner of the Philippines (a post he had held in the 1930s), or as Ambassador to Mexico, or perhaps back to his perch as Attorney General. But Murphy coveted the Secretary of War slot. He pressed FDR to jettison Stimson and appoint him to replace the distinguished elder statesman, a wildly implausible suggestion that FDR deflected with his usual deftness. Frankfurter, viewing Murphy’s judicial skills as inferior, urged FDR to ease Murphy off the Court by enticing him with a lesser government job, and he even at times became an intermediary (perhaps self-appointed) in FDR’s communications with Murphy on the subject. FDR and Murphy also directly discussed possible positions in meetings and lunches, but nothing came of it.


FDR and William O. Douglas, meanwhile, had serious conversations about Douglas leaving the Court and heading domestic war mobilization. But, after initially reaching out to Douglas, FDR seemed to back away from finalizing the arrangement.


The President seemed to see the Court as his personal bullpen rather than as an independent and impartial branch. And at least some Justices seemed to see their Court seats as possible launching pads for more compelling posts.


On Saturday morning, December 6, 1941, Douglas met privately with FDR at the White House for forty-five minutes. While there is no record of the conversation, it seems likely they were discussing the possibility of Douglas taking on a major war mobilization role. But whatever plans they might have been considering were overwhelmed by the events of the next day, Sunday, December 7, when the world would change for every American, and for every Justice.















• chapter two •



PEARL HARBOR


On Sunday afternoon, December 7, 1941, in his study on the second floor of the White House, President Roosevelt ate lunch at his desk with his closest and most trusted aide, Harry Hopkins. At 1:40 p.m., an urgent call came from Secretary of the Navy Frank Knox. Japanese bombers had attacked Pearl Harbor, the home of the Pacific fleet. Throughout a long afternoon and evening, the Navy updated the President with reports about the stunning damage and rising casualties.


By the time the Japanese attackers had completed their work, the toll was enormous. American deaths and injuries, military and civilian, totaled more than 3,500. The Japanese had destroyed or damaged eight American battleships, three destroyers, three light cruisers, and four auxiliary ships; they also had devastated the Pacific air fleet.
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Justice Hugo Black and his wife Josephine enjoyed a relaxed Sunday lunch at the Maryland farm of Secretary of the Interior Harold Ickes. Senator Tom Connally of Texas, Black’s former colleague from his Senate days, was the life of the party, regaling the guests with amusing stories. As he was driving back to his historic home in Alexandria, Virginia, Black had the radio on and suddenly heard the bulletin with the astounding news of the Pearl Harbor attack.


At his sprawling estate in McLean, Virginia, Justice Robert Jackson was listening to classical music on the radio while reading. An emergency report about Pearl Harbor interrupted the musical program. Jackson felt “a deep sense of shock.… I had known that we were not far from war. Still, I was shocked by the boldness of the attack as well as by its success.”


Shortly before noon that Sunday, Justice Felix Frankfurter talked on the phone with his former student John J. McCloy, now one of Stimson’s closest aides at the War Department, about an American lawyer who was acting on behalf of the Japanese government. Afterward, comfortably ensconced in his Georgetown home, Frankfurter settled in to consider the Supreme Court cases to be argued in the coming week. He heard the alarming news, and his attention shifted from the Supreme Court briefs before him.


George Hutchinson, the eighteen-year-old aide in the Supreme Court library, was also sitting in his Capitol Hill home, listening to his radio and cheering on quarterback Sammy Baugh in the game between Hutchinson’s beloved Washington Redskins and the Philadelphia Eagles, when a news flash interrupted the football game and reported the attack. Stunned, Hutchinson listened to the rest of the game, pleased to hear his Redskins defeat the Eagles in the final game of the year. When he left to get a loaf of bread from a local grocery, he found the streets eerily deserted. He realized that everybody was at home. They were glued to their radios, trying to follow the latest developments about the attack.


While many huddled at home, others gathered in a crowd outside the White House, looking up at the lights in the White House executive offices and waiting for word about how the nation would respond.
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Upon hearing the Pearl Harbor news, Frankfurter immediately swung into action. Concerned that legal issues would instantly arise, he left an urgent message at the White House: “If the President cannot get hold of the Attorney General or the Solicitor General he might want to have a good lawyer standing by in an advisory capacity.” Frankfurter recommended Assistant Secretary of State Dean Acheson. A prominent Washington lawyer, he had been Frankfurter’s protégé as a student at Harvard Law School and, on Frankfurter’s recommendation, a law clerk to Justice Brandeis. (Acheson later would serve as Secretary of State in the Truman Administration.) Frankfurter gave the White House a phone number for Acheson to give to the President and, for good measure, the number of Acheson’s housekeeper. The Justice separately sent FDR a letter assuring him that “the whole American people are behind you” and that “the God of Righteousness is with you—and you are His instrument.”


Later that afternoon, FDR took a call from Prime Minister Winston Churchill. Churchill had heard the news about Pearl Harbor while dining in London with Roosevelt’s emissaries, including U.S. Ambassador John Winant. Churchill immediately understood that the surprise attack meant that the United States would now enter the war—and that, at last, England would no longer be alone.


At Churchill’s request, Winant called Roosevelt and, after initial pleasantries, handed the phone to the Prime Minister. “Mr. President,” Churchill asked, “what’s this about Japan?” “It’s quite true,” FDR replied. “They have attacked us at Pearl Harbor.” And then FDR delivered the message Churchill had long been waiting to hear in words Churchill, like Roosevelt a former top Navy official, would truly understand: “We are all in the same boat now.”


At 8:30 p.m. on December 7, Roosevelt met with his Cabinet in the Blue Room. He told them it was the most serious crisis any Cabinet had faced since Lincoln met with his Cabinet at the start of the Civil War.


At 10:00 p.m., the President, accompanied by the Cabinet, met with congressional leaders. Roosevelt reported on the extent of the casualties and the damage. The Senators and members of the House sat in stunned silence. Finally, Senator Tom Connally, Hugo Black’s lively luncheon companion earlier that day, exploded. He castigated Secretary of the Navy Knox. “I am amazed by the attack by Japan,” said Connally, “but I am still more astounded at what happened to our Navy. They were all asleep. Where were our patrols?”


The White House announced that President Roosevelt would appear before a joint special session of Congress at noon the next day to report on the attack.


In the House chamber of the Capitol, anticipation built for the President’s arrival. Vice President Henry Wallace and Speaker of the House Sam Rayburn sat perched in large chairs just behind the Speaker’s podium. FDR’s Cabinet was present, with Secretary of War Henry Stimson, Secretary of State Cordell Hull, and Secretary of the Treasury Henry Morgenthau in the front row. Also close to the podium were congressional leaders and the nation’s highest military officers, in their full uniforms. Sitting just behind the military men was the ubiquitous British ambassador, Lord Halifax.


The Supreme Court Justices sat prominently in the front row in the center of the House chamber, near the Cabinet Secretaries. They were arranged in order of seniority—Chief Justice Stone, then Roberts, Black, Reed, Frankfurter, Douglas, Murphy, and, finally, the two newest Justices, Byrnes and Jackson. The Justices had taken the unusual step of adjourning the Court so that they could attend the joint session and hear the President.


At 12:29 p.m. in the House chamber, a thunderous voice announced, “The President of the United States.” A silence fell on the audience. “Then through the door,” the Washington Post reported, “headed toward the Speaker’s dais, came the President. He was leaning on the arm of his eldest son, Capt. James Roosevelt. The President wore a black frock coat and striped trousers. His son wore the uniform of a Marine Corps officer. A tremendous ovation rose up as the Chief Executive advanced to the dais to confront a battery of 12 microphones. He smiled, but it was a strained, sad smile.”


Leaning on the podium, FDR stood and gazed out at the notables arrayed before him. In a seven-minute speech broadcast to a radio audience of eighty million, he set forth the facts of the Japanese attack with a cold fury. “Yesterday, December 7, 1941, a date which will live in infamy, the United States of America was suddenly and deliberately attacked by naval and air forces of the Empire of Japan.” He recounted Japanese treachery in pretending to engage in negotiations with the United States while preparing for the surprise attack. He then related in blunt terms, “The attack yesterday on the Hawaiian islands has caused severe damage to American naval and military forces. Very many American lives have been lost.” He described subsequent Japanese attacks, following the Pearl Harbor assault, on Malaya, Hong Kong, Guam, the Philippines, Wake Island, and Midway Island.


“Hostilities exist,” he soberly reported. “There is no blinking at the fact that our people, our territory and our interests are in grave danger. With confidence in our armed forces—with the unbounding determination of our people—we will gain the inevitable triumph—so help us God.”


He concluded, “I ask that the Congress declare that since the unprovoked and dastardly attack by Japan on Sunday, December 7, a state of war has existed between the United States and the Japanese empire.”


The audience immediately rose in a roaring standing ovation. In the front row, Justice Hugo Black wiped tears from his eyes.


Within an hour, both houses of Congress voted to declare war on Japan. The vote in the House was 382–1. The only opposing vote was cast by Representative Jeannette Rankin, a Congresswoman from Montana who also had voted against US entry into World War I. The Senate vote was unanimous, 82–0.


Later that afternoon, the President signed the declaration. It was official. The United States and Japan were now at war.


Four days after the Pearl Harbor attack, on Thursday, December 11, Germany and Italy declared war on the United States. President Roosevelt immediately asked for reciprocal declarations of war. Congress responded with alacrity, passing its own declaration of war against those nations the same day. America’s war with all three Axis nations was now official, and with it, the isolationist movement in the United States collapsed. On December 11, the America First Committee announced that it was disbanding. Its putative leader and hero, Charles Lindbergh, stated that he no longer opposed the war.


After the joint session of Congress on December 8, the Justices trooped back to the Supreme Court to take the bench and resume their business at 2:30 p.m. Sitting shortly after FDR’s stirring speech, they heard arguments in a dry railroad case from Texas.


The Justices also announced eleven decisions. In the immediate wake of the President’s call to arms, the cases must have seemed painfully prosaic. They addressed federal taxes; the rights of sureties under the National Bank Act; an Interstate Commerce Commission administrative interpretation; the Longshoremen’s and Harbor Workers’ Act; a property dispute involving a Native American tribe; the enforceability of a state’s orders in another state; and two criminal cases. Black wrote his wife about FDR’s speech at the joint session and the Justices’ return to the Court: “It seems difficult to concentrate on individual disputes between Americans at a time when the entire country is participating in a world dispute.”


One decision announced that day addressed important First Amendment principles, and for those paying attention, it was a significant bellwether about an emerging dynamic on the Court. In a 5–4 decision, the Court set aside contempt of court citations against controversial labor leader Harry Bridges and the Los Angeles Times for their public comments criticizing a judge. Black wrote for the majority, and Frankfurter for the dissenters. It was one of the first signs of a rift among the Roosevelt Justices. “The legend that a ‘packed’ court would mean a set of rubber stamps,” editorialized the St. Louis Star and Times, “is dying a deserved death.”


Behind the judicial curtains, the fight was far more intense than the public knew. Frankfurter was irate that he was on the losing side. Believing Stanley Reed to be his best hope in the five-Justice majority, Frankfurter incessantly lobbied Reed at least to concur separately and not join Black’s opinion, thereby denying Black a majority. Frankfurter even drafted a concurrence for Reed. But Reed held firm, to Frankfurter’s dismay.


Frankfurter had assumed he would be the intellectual leader on the Roosevelt Court. But now it was Black, the Alabama populist Senator, rather than Frankfurter, the Harvard Law School professor, who was leading the Court on a fundamental First Amendment case, with Black taking a broad view of constitutional rights and Frankfurter failing to garner a majority for his narrower interpretation. For Black, the First Amendment was “a command of the broadest scope that explicit language, read in the context of a liberty-loving society, will allow.” For Frankfurter, the speech had to yield to the need to respect the independent authority of courts, particularly “at a time when it is repudiated and derided by powerful regimes”; he chided Black, “We must be fastidiously careful not to make our private views the measure of constitutional authority.”


It was a relationship—and a competition—that would, over time, become increasingly intense and toxic.
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The next day, Tuesday, December 9, the Court heard arguments in United States v. Bethlehem Ship Building Company, a case concerning federal payments for ships built by Bethlehem Ship Building Company during World War I.


Byrnes, until recently a powerful Senator, was struck by the incongruity. At the very time the nation faced the emergency of a new world war, the Supreme Court was poring over contractual payments from the last world war. “As I listened to the arguments,” Byrnes recounted in his memoir, “my mind kept turning not only to ‘the law’s delays’ but to the irony of our considering a case arising out of the construction of ships twenty years ago, when so many of our naval vessels had been destroyed only the day before.”


Two days later, FDR summoned Byrnes to the White House. When they met that Thursday morning on December 11, the President was in bed surrounded by documents and newspapers, as he often was. “His appearance shocked me,” Byrnes recalled. “As he told of developments since Sunday afternoon, he was more nervous than I had ever seen him. We continued our discussion as he dressed and wheeled himself into the bathroom to shave. I sat on the only seat in the room. He was worried about the steps to be taken immediately to put the nation on a war footing, saying we were not prepared either militarily or psychologically for the ordeal confronting us.”


Roosevelt asked Byrnes for help on war-related legislation, and Byrnes immediately agreed. “I mentioned my thoughts while listening to the Bethlehem case,” Byrnes wrote. “Jokingly, I told him that I had once thought him wrong in urging mandatory retirement of Supreme Court justices at the age of seventy; now it seemed preferable that in time of war only men over seventy should be allowed to serve on the Court.” Men under seventy, Byrnes was saying, should be in the thick of the action, away from the Court. He then made an offer to FDR. Byrnes’s extensive experience in government, he told the President, would allow him “in wartime to perform greater service than upon the Court; and if he ever concluded I could be of more value elsewhere, I hoped he would call upon me.” In the meantime, he would be pleased to work on any tasks FDR assigned him while he remained a Justice, as the President had suggested.


Roosevelt promptly directed Attorney General Francis Biddle to confer with Byrnes on all emergency war legislation and executive orders and to have Byrnes work on getting the legislation expedited. Confirming the President’s directive, Biddle reassured FDR, “All defense legislation is being cleared by the departments and then through Jimmy Byrnes, who takes care of it on the Hill.”


Byrnes swiftly set to work on what became known as the First War Powers Act. It gave the President sweeping new authority to shape the government as he saw fit for the war effort. The President could “make such redistribution of functions among executive agencies as he may deem necessary” for “national security and defense, for the successful prosecution of the war, for the support and maintenance of the Army and Navy, for the better utilization of resources, and for the more effective exercise and more efficient administration by the President of his powers as Commander in Chief of the Army and Navy.”


Byrnes played a major role in drafting the bill and securing its passage. He worked closely with Speaker of the House Sam Rayburn, Senate Majority Leader Alben Barkley, and other congressional leaders. The fact that Byrnes was now a sitting Supreme Court Justice did not deter him, nor did it bother the congressional leaders and Roosevelt Administration officials.


The new war legislation sped through both Houses. The President signed it on December 18, only a week after his shaving-in-the-bathroom conversation with Jimmy Byrnes. While the breathtakingly broad legislation can be justified by the war emergency, the immersion in the executive and legislative processes by a sitting Justice cannot be, especially because the Court might be called on to interpret its provisions or rule on its constitutionality.


Byrnes was not the only Justice, that Pearl Harbor week, who sharply felt the contrast between the gravity of the war and the nature of the Court’s cases. Jackson later recalled, “It was a very depressing time to be on the court. I’ve never forgotten that the [week] after Pearl Harbor we heard argued two cases involving the question of whether country club members were taxable on their greens at golf courses. I sputtered much about hearing such a damn petty question all day with the world in flames.” To make matters worse, the Chief Justice assigned him to write both opinions.


On December 29, Jackson wrote FDR, “I take this occasion to say what I am sure you already know—that if at any time I can serve you better elsewhere, I am glad to respond.”


Other Justices also sought to contribute. Frankfurter sent the President a stream of war-related messages. Following an FDR fireside chat on December 9, Frankfurter telegrammed Roosevelt that the President’s “soberly confident voice” would “bring confidence without complacency to our people” and “gird them for the gloriously grim task ahead.” On December 17, he sent Roosevelt a memo detailing “a good many talks I have had since September 1939 with some of the best brains who were intimately familiar with the defects and inadequacies of the British and French war effort.” On December 18, he wrote FDR that his presidential letter about a soldier killed in action would “live in history” with Lincoln’s famous letter to a grieving mother. And on December 23, Frankfurter forwarded a suggested Christmas message from Dorothy Thompson, an acclaimed journalist who had been expelled from Germany in 1934 for her critical coverage of the Nazis.


Frank Murphy, meanwhile, was focused on the battle in the Philippines. He had served as Governor General of the Philippines and then as High Commissioner of the Philippines, appointed by FDR, from 1933 to 1936. Acquired by the United States in the Spanish-American War, the Philippines were now a commonwealth on the path to independence. But the situation in December 1941 was bleak, with the Japanese on the verge of control. “I actually wish I was back in the islands right now helping those people,” Murphy told a reporter. “It seems awful to be so helpless when your friends are being ruthlessly killed by an army that knows no mercy. I feel that the things I helped to create—the democracy and the independence of the islands—are now being destroyed by the Japanese army.” He broadcast a radio message of resistance to the Filipinos. “Show them that it matters not how greatly we love peace, for always we love freedom more,” he proclaimed. “Shoot straight, never falter!”


Chief Justice Stone focused on civil defense. Stone and his wife Agnes participated in a neighborhood defense preparation meeting near their DC home. They listened intently as an air-raid warden set forth the procedures in an aerial attack, their attendance prominently reported by journalists. But Stone was not reassured. “We have no defense against an airplane attack so far as I know,” he confided in a letter two days later, “and if one occurs we will have to sit and take it.”


Despite Stone’s misgivings, Washington had quickly become a war town. Blackouts at night were intended to make Nazi bombing sorties more difficult by shrouding the streets in darkness. The Associated Press advised, “If you don’t want to bump into somebody in a blackout, take along a white handkerchief or a newspaper. Or draw a cigarette so that the glow will be a signal to the person approaching you. And walk slowly. Those tips come from Britain’s blackout experiences.” DC residents, reported syndicated columnist Jack Stinnett, “started runs on black cloth for use in blackouts, and adhesive tape to interlace house and shop windows to prevent breakage in air raids.”


Even Washington’s historic sites were darkened. “For the first time since floodlighting was introduced here,” Stinnett continued, “the Capitol dome, the Washington Monument, the Lincoln Memorial, and the White House spend their nights in darkness.” At the Supreme Court, hastily arranged heavy curtains blocked windows throughout the building.


But black cloth was not going to win a war. In the days after Pearl Harbor, concern about the lack of preparedness for the attack became a focus of national attention. Senators and members of the House discussed the creation of a special congressional committee to investigate. The President moved promptly to preempt a congressional inquiry.


The wily FDR thought that a presidential commission would do the job. To head it, he needed somebody who would be perceived as independent, fair-minded, and nonpartisan. He also wanted somebody who would be reliable for a sensitive mission. He settled on his candidate: Justice Owen Roberts, a Republican and the only man on the Court who did not owe his position to the President. Roberts also had investigative experience, having served as a special Deputy Attorney General in World War I prosecuting espionage in Pennsylvania and as an acclaimed special counsel investigating Teapot Dome, the Harding-era scandal about the leasing of national oil reserves. And in the months leading up to the war, he had vociferously backed the President and his war planning.


On Tuesday, December 16, at 5 p.m., FDR met with Roberts at the White House to ask him to head a presidential commission investigating responsibility for any lack of readiness at Pearl Harbor and reporting directly to him. Roberts would chair the commission, and his panel would have four other members, all military men—three retired military officers (a General and two Admirals) and one current Air Corps Brigadier General.


Roberts immediately agreed. He was not surprised by the offer. In another example of Frankfurter’s wide-ranging role in Administration affairs, earlier that day, Stimson aide John McCloy had consulted Frankfurter about Roberts’s possible appointment. After sounding out Roberts, Frankfurter had told McCloy of Roberts’s willingness to chair the commission. That evening, the White House announced the President’s appointment of the Roberts Commission. Stone granted Roberts a leave of absence from the Court until the Commission reported its findings to the President.


The next day, the new Commission on Pearl Harbor met for ninety minutes with Secretary of War Stimson and Secretary of the Navy Knox. The Commission announced it would head shortly to Hawaii for fact-finding. Roberts directed the Commission members not to give press interviews or make public statements.


Congressional leaders announced that, in light of the new Roberts Commission, they would not move forward with their own investigations. House Naval Affairs Committee Chairman Carl Vinson of Georgia said his committee would not undertake any inquiry because “the President has named such an outstanding board to conduct an investigation”; his Senate counterpart, David Walsh of Massachusetts, called the President’s appointments “in every way commendable.” Within days, Congress passed legislation giving the Roberts Commission subpoena power.


Commentators praised FDR’s creation of the Roberts Commission. “The outstanding characteristic of the investigative board,” wrote Boston Globe columnist Jay Hayden, “is that its stature and independence are such as to make it free to condemn even the President himself, if it should find that his actions or failure to act contributed to the unreadiness of the Hawaiian garrison.… Justice Roberts is one member of the Supreme Court who never before has received an appointment from President Roosevelt. More than that, he is the highest ranking Republican in the government, excepting Chief Justice Harlan F. Stone, who was appointed to his present position by President Roosevelt.” The St. Louis Post Dispatch editorialized that “the board of inquiry appointed by the President is one which will command public confidence.… [The] Associate Justice of the United States Supreme Court is admirably suited to weigh facts and give them judicial appraisal.”


But controversy also emerged. “Selection of Roberts rocked the capital tonight,” the New York Daily News reported, “because the detaching of a Supreme Court Justice from his duties is without precedent in American history.” That historical statement was erroneous. The first two confirmed Chief Justices, John Jay and Oliver Ellsworth, for example, both left the country for extended diplomatic missions while on the Supreme Court, at the request of Presidents George Washington and John Adams. But the criticism highlighted the unease some felt about this assignment for a Supreme Court Justice. Syndicated columnist Frank Kent, an arch FDR critic, was the most scathing. “Once a man ascends to… the highest court in the land,” wrote Kent, “he should cease to be available for any other public or political post.” Kent noted that Roberts’s absence would strain the Court, leaving it shorthanded. “It does seem,” he acidly concluded, “that among 130,000,000 people Mr. Roosevelt easily might have found some man of the required character and capacity without raiding the Supreme Court.” But these were contrarian public views in a national chorus of praise for Roberts and the Commission.


Chief Justice Stone, not yet six months into his new job, was not pleased either. He may even have been a source for Kent, who noted in his column that Roberts’s selection was a surprise “to the Justice’s colleagues on the Supreme Bench.” On December 18, Stone wrote his two sons, “You have probably seen that the President has appointed Justice Roberts to head the Commission to investigate the Pearl Harbor disaster. That puts a serious crimp in our work as his absence may cause all sorts of complications. The matter is made worse by the fact that the Government is drawing on Byrnes for advice in legislation which will cut down his writing.” And then in a clear echo of Kent’s column (or perhaps the comment in Kent’s column was an echo of a point he had heard from the Chief Justice), Stone continued, “With one hundred and thirty million people in the United States to draw from to do these jobs it seems as though the Court might have been left alone.”
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On December 22, a special visitor arrived at the White House. The excitement of his visit captivated the Justices, like all Americans.


Winston Churchill was a guest for the holidays. He and Roosevelt, now formal allies in the war effort, worked long hours, poring over military maps and discussing war strategy. Both leaders also enjoyed drinks and merriment. FDR presided at his usual cocktail hour each night, mixing drinks. Churchill was not a fan of the President’s concoctions; he frequently snuck his own drinks in before and after the gatherings.


At one point during the stay, FDR wheeled into Churchill’s room and encountered Churchill, fresh from a bath, without a stitch of clothing. The Prime Minister gleefully told FDR that he had “nothing to conceal” from the President. FDR delighted in the encounter, telling his secretary Grace Tully that Churchill was “pink and white all over” and his cousin Margaret (Daisy) Suckley that Churchill looked like a “pink cherub.”


On Christmas Eve, before an enthusiastic crowd of fifteen thousand, Roosevelt and Churchill lit the national Christmas tree on the South Lawn of the White House. FDR asked his visitor to say a few words. “For one night only,” Churchill announced, “each home throughout the English-speaking world should be a brightly-lighted island of happiness and peace.… Let the children have their night of fun and laughter. Let the gifts of Father Christmas delight their play. Let us grown-ups share to the full in their unstinted pleasures before we turn again to the stern task and the formidable years that lie before us, resolved that, by our sacrifice and daring, these same children shall not be robbed of their inheritance or denied their right to live in a free and decent world.”


The day after Christmas, on Friday, December 26, at 12:30 p.m., Churchill spoke to a joint session of Congress in the Senate chamber. Supreme Court Justices again took positions in the front row, prominent in the packed room with Senators, Representatives, Cabinet Secretaries, and diplomats. Lord Halifax, the British ambassador, again was on hand. So too was the Soviet Ambassador, Maxim Litvinov.


Throughout the Capitol, soldiers stood guard in full military uniform, bearing fixed bayonets and trench helmets. Squadrons of Secret Service agents supplemented the security. Outside, on the Capitol Plaza, thousands surged to try to get a glimpse of the Prime Minister.


Churchill charmed his audience by reminding them that his mother, Jennie Churchill, was American. “The fact that my American forbears have for so many generations played their part in the life of the United States, and that here I am, an Englishman, welcomed in your midst, makes this experience one of the most moving and thrilling in my life,” Churchill began. And to gales of appreciative laughter, he continued, “I cannot help reflecting that if my father had been American and my mother British, instead of the other way around, I might have got here on my own.” The Senators and Representatives relished the suggestion that he might have been elected to their ranks. He was a member of the club, not a foreigner.


But the Prime Minister had a serious message for the nation newly at war. He scorned the Axis nations and vowed victory: “What kind of a people do they think we are? Is it possible they do not realize that we shall never cease to persevere against them until they have been taught a lesson which they and the world will never forget?” Churchill had deftly established the inseparable and indissoluble bond between the United Kingdom and the United States—a single “people,” a single “we.”


The audience interrupted Churchill’s thirty-five-minute address often with raucous applause. One journalist reported that “Supreme Court Justice Felix Frankfurter beat his hands together until they were red.” Another observed that Frankfurter “fidgeted in his seat, made nervous gestures, and applauded with great vigor when the Prime Minister made a point.”


As Churchill finished, the chamber rose in a standing ovation. Churchill looked out at the crowd and bowed. He flashed his signature two-fingered “V for victory” sign. From his front row seat, Chief Justice Harlan Fiske Stone immediately raised his own hand to the Prime Minister with his two fingers raised, a gesture widely reported by journalists across the country.


The message was clear: the Court was in the fight.















• chapter three •



WAR


The New Year began on a somber note. President Roosevelt proclaimed a National Day of Prayer for Thursday, January 1, 1942. The President and Winston Churchill attended services at Christ Church in Alexandria, Virginia, where George Washington had prayed.


In Hawaii, at high noon, Justice Owen J. Roberts participated in a prayer and memorial ceremony at Nuuanu Memorial Park, overlooking the Honolulu harbor. Roberts led a procession at the graveyard. Six Native girls recited an ancient Hawaiian chant for departed warriors, and a group of Hawaiians sang “Aloha ‘Oe,” a “hail and farewell” song composed in 1878 by then Princess (and later Queen) Lili‘uokalani. The assembled crowd of several hundred people joined in patriotic hymns and “The Star-Spangled Banner.” The wife of the Honolulu Mayor placed a wreath on a memorial for more than 350 sailors and others killed at Pearl Harbor, now buried at Nuuanu, and she placed another wreath on the graves of three Honolulu firemen who perished fighting the flames at Hickam Field, an Army post. Other sailors and soldiers killed at Pearl Harbor were buried separately in a military cemetery, to which civilians were denied access for security reasons.


Thousands of flowers poured into the cemetery from around the territory, including an enormous wreath from Maggie’s Inn, a waterfront café that sailors favored. At the high point of the ceremony, Justice Roberts approached the burial places and solemnly placed brightly colored leis on the graves.


Roberts and his fellow Commissioners had arrived in Hawaii on December 22 and would remain until January 10. Working through the Christmas holiday season, they held hearings from 9 a.m. until dusk; at that point, blackout restrictions required them to cease until the following morning.


The Commissioners began with private depositions of military personnel on Army and Navy bases. In early January, Justice Roberts formally requested testimony from any civilians with information that might shed light on military preparedness at Pearl Harbor the morning of the attack.


The Commissioners heard the citizens’ testimony at the Royal Hawaiian Hotel, a magnificent pink Moorish-style hotel on the Waikiki beach that had opened in 1927 and now was heavily guarded. Far from the Supreme Court’s marble palace in Washington, DC, the converted luxury hotel became the base of operations for the Justice spearheading the government’s inquiry into its most sensitive issue.
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Owen Josephus Roberts was born in 1875 in the Germantown section of Philadelphia. His father was the son of Welsh immigrants and prospered as a hardware merchant and wagon dealer; his mother was of Scots-Irish descent. A prodigious reader, Owen attended Germantown Academy, where he excelled on the debate team. Entering the University of Pennsylvania at the age of sixteen, he thrived in his studies, with a focus on the classics, and graduated Phi Beta Kappa. He went on to the University of Pennsylvania Law School, where he again distinguished himself, finishing at the top of his class and serving as an editor of the law review.


Roberts became a leading lawyer at two Philadelphia law firms and taught commercial law courses at the University of Pennsylvania Law School. He quickly earned a reputation as a commanding courtroom presence and represented clients on all sides of legal disputes, plaintiffs as well as defendants. Roberts also served for three years in the Philadelphia District Attorney’s office. Along the way, he married Elizabeth “Betty” Rogers of Fairfield, Connecticut. She had graduated from Mount Holyoke College, where she was a classmate and close friend of Frances Perkins, the woman who would be FDR’s Secretary of Labor. Owen and Betty had one daughter, their only child.


After World War I, President Woodrow Wilson’s Attorney General appointed Roberts to serve as “Special Deputy Attorney General,” responsible for prosecuting Espionage Act violations in the Philadelphia area. Roberts gained several convictions as part of a wave of controversial prosecutions against war critics that raised troubling civil liberties issues.


Roberts came to national attention through the Teapot Dome scandal of the Harding years. Federal government officials had awarded lucrative government oil leases in questionable circumstances, including at Teapot Dome in Wyoming. A Senate investigation revealed tawdry and complex corruption at the highest levels of government. In February 1924, six months after Warren Harding’s sudden death, Congress passed a law requiring that President Calvin Coolidge appoint a special counsel, subject to Senate confirmation, to investigate the scandal and bring appropriate prosecutions. Coolidge announced that he would appoint not one but two special counsels—one Democrat and one Republican. His choice for the Democratic counsel was Atlee Pomerene, a former Senator from Ohio.


Pennsylvania Senator George Wharton Pepper enthusiastically recommended Roberts for the Republican appointment. At a White House meeting with Roberts and Pepper, the notoriously laconic Coolidge commented, as he pointed to a picture of his own Vermont farm, that he understood Roberts was a farmer. The owner of a farm in rural Pennsylvania, Roberts replied, “Guernseys are my money crop and I’ve never shown a loss.” Coolidge asked about Roberts’s knowledge of public land laws. Roberts replied, “Nothing whatever.” When Senator Pepper tried to interject, Coolidge rebuked him: “When I want an interpreter, I’ll call on you.” Roberts assured the President he had taught property law for several years and, while he lacked direct familiarity with public land laws, they would not present a difficulty.


That was the entirety of the interview. “Silent Cal” offered Roberts the position on the spot. “If you are confirmed,” the President advised, “there is one thing you must bear in mind. You will be working for the government of the United States—not for the Republican Party, and not for me. Let this fact guide you, no matter what ugly matters come to light.” The Senate promptly confirmed both Pomerene and Roberts.


Roberts received widespread acclaim as an effective counsel. Securing a conviction of former Interior Secretary Albert Fall, he also argued and won two unanimous Supreme Court decisions regarding Teapot Dome. Justice Louis Brandeis reported to Felix Frankfurter (then a Harvard Law School professor) that Roberts had made an “uncommonly good impression on our Court.”


In 1930, President Herbert Hoover’s initial pick for a Supreme Court vacancy—a US Court of Appeals judge from North Carolina named John J. Parker—ran into trouble in the Senate over a controversial antilabor opinion he had written and racist remarks he had made in his 1920 campaign for Governor. The Senate rejected Parker on a bipartisan 41–39 vote.


Hoover turned to Roberts as a consensus nominee. Roberts did not have a conspicuous antilabor record, and he had served as a trustee of historically Black Lincoln University. On May 20, 1930, the Senate unanimously confirmed him.


Roberts arrived on the Supreme Court at a fraught time. One wing of the Court comprised “the Four Horsemen”—archconservatives who claimed the Constitution required striking down a broad swath of federal and state laws concerning economic regulation and social justice. With varying personalities and backgrounds, they shared a hostility to progressive political initiatives: Willis Van Devanter, a former US Court of Appeals judge appointed by President Taft; James McReynolds, a virulent antisemite and racist appointed by President Wilson; George Sutherland, a former US Senator from Utah appointed by President Harding; and Pierce Butler, a former railroad lawyer from Minnesota also appointed by Harding.


The Court included a wing of three liberals: reformer Louis Brandeis (a Wilson appointee, though that did not spare him from the antisemitism of his fellow Wilson appointee McReynolds); Boston patrician Oliver Wendell Holmes (a Theodore Roosevelt appointee); and, in a surprise to many that he was in the liberal camp, Harlan Fiske Stone (a Coolidge appointee and a former Wall Street lawyer, law school dean, and, briefly, Attorney General). The ninth Justice was the Chief, Charles Evans Hughes.


In what was viewed as a momentous development during the spring of 1937, Roberts sided with the liberals and Hughes to uphold Washington State’s minimum wage law in the West Coast Hotel Co. v. Parrish case. In sharp contrast, the previous year, Roberts had joined the Four Horsemen to throw out New York’s minimum-wage law in Morehead v. New York ex rel. Tipaldo. Two weeks later, Roberts again joined the liberals and Hughes in sustaining the National Labor Relations Act, a major New Deal initiative, in NLRB v. Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp. For many, it seemed the only thing that had changed with Roberts was FDR’s Court-packing threat earlier that year.


The historical reality is more complicated. Before the West Coast Hotel decision in 1937, Roberts had sometimes voted with the liberals and Hughes even while often voting with the Four Horsemen. Roberts later contended that his apparently conflicting votes on the minimum-wage laws had been about technical differences in the cases; evidence has surfaced that Roberts voted to uphold the Washington law immediately after it was argued in December 1936, before FDR’s proposal to expand the Court. In addition, legal historians debate whether Chief Justice Hughes had persuaded Roberts the previous summer, in a visit to his farm, that the Supreme Court needed to be more deferential in approving state and federal legislation—an explanation suggested by Secretary of Labor Frances Perkins based on her memory of discussions with her longtime friend Betty Roberts.


Whatever the reality, the public perception at the time was certainly that Roberts had “switched” his allegiances on the Court in the spring of 1937, with the “switch in time” becoming a commonly repeated quip. After the West Coast Hotel minimum-wage decision, moreover, Roberts frequently voted to uphold the constitutionality of economic legislation, and the threat to major New Deal undertakings seemed to have passed.


The Pearl Harbor Commission was not Roberts’s first extrajudicial presidential appointment. In 1932, soon after he joined the Supreme Court, Hoover appointed him to be the “umpire”—the lead adjudicator—on the German-American Mixed Claims Commission for the “Black Tom” disputes. The cases concerned German liability for losses from alleged German sabotage against a munitions plant on Black Tom Island in New York Harbor in 1916 and 1917. Roberts led the Commission to a $50 million judgment against Germany in 1939, which Hitler promptly repudiated. But Roberts’s service impressed observers. John J. McCloy, then a private lawyer in the case, recalled that “the towering figure of Roberts,” with his “great power of expression and clear style,” produced “a magic effect”; his “mind and character promptly took command of that confused situation and held it through many vicissitudes and attempted diversions to the very end.”


The question now, in January 1942, was whether Roberts’s work on the Pearl Harbor Commission—on a far more compressed schedule and on a matter of far greater national urgency—likewise would be viewed as generating a “magic effect.”
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By mid-January, Roberts was back in Washington and working on the report with his fellow Commissioners.


Felix Frankfurter, always eager to be in the mix, wrote FDR on Saturday, January 17 urging him to meet with Roberts privately. “Owen Roberts,” Frankfurter confided, “is, as you well know, the most forthright of men. But he is not only—thank God!—very modest. He is also truly shy. And so I venture to suggest that you get him alone, and not with the other members of his Board, to tell you of things that have no proper place in their report—particularly on matters of personnel pertaining not to the past but to what lies ahead.” Roberts apparently had formed some views on military leaders or Cabinet Secretaries and Frankfurter, ever keen to have a hand in Roosevelt Administration matters, sought to make sure that Roberts shared them with the President.


The next day, according to White House logs, Roberts met with FDR alone at the White House for fifty minutes, from 5 p.m. to 5:50 p.m. Again, no record exists of a private, extended conversation between the President and a sitting Justice.


Roberts, meanwhile, continued his leave of absence from the Court. Ultimately, there were twenty-one Supreme Court cases in the 1941 term in which Roberts did not participate.


On Friday, January 23, at a session with reporters in his office, FDR commented that Roberts was almost done with his report. The next morning, Saturday, January 24, Roberts drove himself to the White House. He and the President met for two hours, beginning close to noon, in the President’s study on the second floor of the White House, and Roberts presented FDR with his Commission’s report. As Roosevelt carefully read every word of the document, Roberts recalled, the President made “a sort of running commentary.” At one point, he asked Roberts “what reasons the officers out there… gave for having thought there would never be an air attack.”


Always the master public strategist, FDR decided to release the entire report that night. After confirming with Roberts that there would be no risk of disclosing harmful information to US enemies, he reversed previous White House statements that the report would be partially withheld. The report noted that, in deference to national-security sensitivities, it did not include quotes from documents or witness testimony. The President summoned his aide Marvin McIntyre, tossed the report across the table, and directed, “Mac, give this to the Sunday papers in full.”


As Roberts left the White House that Saturday afternoon, he was mobbed by reporters. He stood on the White House portico, garbed in his overcoat and derby hat, and spoke in generalities without revealing the content of the report. The report contained findings of fact and conclusions, he said. It fixed responsibility and named names. The President had read it carefully. All five members of the Commission had signed the report. His work was done, and the Commission would now go out of business.


The reporters followed Roberts to his car, positioning themselves between the Justice in the driver’s seat and the open car door so that Roberts could not close his door. But he declined to say more.


White House Press Secretary Stephen Early announced that the Commission’s report would be mimeographed and made public promptly. He told reporters that FDR considered it a “painstaking and most thorough investigation and report.”


The White House released the entire document at 9:00 that evening. The fifty-one-page report sharply criticized the two most senior officials in Hawaii—the Navy’s commander in chief of the Pacific Fleet, Admiral Husband E. Kimmel, and the Army’s commanding general of the Hawaiian Department, Lieutenant General Walter C. Short, both of whom had been relieved of their command by FDR in December. It found them guilty of “dereliction of duty,” a most serious offense. The Admiral and the General had received repeated warnings about a possible attack but had not taken appropriate actions in response. With devastating consequences, they also had failed to communicate adequately with each other. Accordingly, “the Japanese attack was a complete surprise to the commanders and they failed to make suitable dispositions to meet such an attack.”


But the Commission absolved the most senior government officials. Secretary of State Cordell Hull had acted appropriately, passing on information to other departments as he had received it. So too had Secretary of War Stimson and Secretary of the Navy Knox. The President was not mentioned at all.


Junior officers likewise were exonerated. “Subordinate commanders executed their superiors’ orders without question. They were not responsible for the state of readiness prescribed.” And, contrary to rumors that excessive drinking and partying by sailors and soldiers on Saturday night had inhibited their response on that fateful Sunday morning, the Roberts Commission carefully noted that, “except for a negligible number, the use of intoxicating liquor on the preceding evening did not affect their efficiency.”


The Commission’s findings thus validated the approach of FDR and his Administration to Pearl Harbor. It blamed the two top military officials who already had been relieved of command and nobody else.


Commentators praised the report. Syndicated columnists Drew Pearson and Robert Allen proclaimed, “The nation will always be proud of and grateful to the five members of the Pearl Harbor board of inquiry, headed by Justice Owen J. Roberts, for their blunt and courageous report. It was a great tribute by true patriots to the honor and gameness of their country.” A South Carolina newspaper agreed. “Many people, including a number of newspaper editors, thought the investigation would be another ‘white washing job,’ but evidently the investigating board undertook its task in a thorough business like manner and went to the very heart of the situation, placing the blame where it appropriately belonged.” And an Illinois newspaper emphasized, “Only in a country which has the courage and the understanding to face the facts could a report so devastating and detailed be given to a public in wartime.”


Congressional leaders of both parties hailed the report. Senate Democratic Leader Alben Barkley of Kentucky praised it for providing the “whole truth”; his counterpart, Senate Republican Leader Charles McNary of Oregon, commended the “frank report,” and Republican Senator Warren Austin of Vermont said that it would “aid in establishing confidence.”


Eventually, however, the Roberts Commission report was criticized for perceived failings and omissions. As early as 1944 and 1945, with the war still ongoing, the lack of preparedness for the Pearl Harbor attack was the focus of another Executive Branch inquiry and two congressional investigations. Controversies about the accuracy and completeness of the report continued after the war. Criticisms of the Roberts Commission varied: the initial discussions in Washington with high-ranking participants should have been transcribed and under oath; the Commission had too many conversations with principals, such as Stimson, outside the strictures of the investigation; the Commission’s mandate was too narrow; the Commission had inadequate investigative resources. Students of presidential investigations and commissions later invoked the Roberts Commission as an example of what not to do—a “rush[] to judgments” and “an ill-considered effort to appease an impatient president and an angry public.”


But in January 1942, the report, completed only six weeks after Roosevelt appointed the Commission and only seven weeks after the attack, brought some information and reassurance to a still-shocked nation. The aura of impartiality conferred by a Supreme Court Justice overseeing four Commissioners with military backgrounds provided an important stamp of reliability—exactly as FDR had hoped.


Four days after giving the President his report, on Wednesday, January 28, Roberts returned to Philadelphia to give a luncheon address at the Warwick Hotel to the United Charities Campaign Workers. In his first public remarks since the release of the report, Roberts issued a scathing call for mobilization and engagement. He warned that “complacency,” “smugness,” and a feeling that “it can’t happen here” had contributed to the Pearl Harbor disaster. Now, Roberts told the crowd, the nation could not afford such laxity. “I don’t have to tell you,” he implored the luncheon guests, “that this country faces a crisis the like of which we have never known. You know that however much the burden grows heavier, how much the purse grows lighter, we civilians have got to bear the brunt of this thing.” To a burst of vigorous applause, he told the audience that “what we must have is greater sacrifice for democracy.”


And then, for Owen Roberts, it was back to work at the Court.
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Roberts was not the only Justice working on war-related activities outside the Court. In early January, newspapers reported that FDR was likely to appoint a new domestic chief to oversee the war economy. FDR told Congress in his State of the Union address on January 6 that he wanted, on the home front, to “keep the wheels turning and the fires burning twenty-four hours a day and seven days a week.” Appointing a domestic economic czar was a way to jump-start the economic effort.


Newspapers reported that the shortlist for the new post included Justices James Byrnes and William Douglas. Journalists speculated about whether Byrnes or Douglas would take a leave of absence from the Court, as Roberts had done with the Commission, or leave it entirely.


Douglas was eager to take on new war assignments. He wrote a friend in December 1941, “Now that we are in a life or death struggle… I have been turning over in my mind possibilities for a more active participation on my part. If the President should ask me to take over the Defense program, I would of course not hesitate.… It’s hard to keep one’s mind in the work with the violent issues joined.” Douglas acknowledged his Supreme Court work—“I suppose it is as important as anything else to keep important and essential domestic functions operating”—and then pivoted to his thirst for action: “I felt like joining the Marines… and taking a personal swat.”


In mid-January, Douglas’s supporters launched a public campaign for his appointment, circulating an open letter urging his selection and releasing it to the press. The President quickly ended the suspense. He announced that Donald Nelson, a former Sears, Roebuck executive (and, since the summer of 1941, head of one of the numerous overlapping defense mobilization agencies), now would be in charge of wartime production.


Frankfurter promptly wrote Roosevelt on Nelson’s appointment with his usual effusive praise. “It took Lincoln three years to discover Grant, and you may not have hit on your production Grant first crack out of the box,” Frankfurter gushed. “But the vital thing is that you have created the function—the function of one exclusive, ‘final’ delegate of your authority. It’s simply grand—indispensable for your conduct of the war.”


Byrnes, meanwhile, continued and intensified his war-related activities. White House Press Secretary Stephen Early told reporters that Byrnes had informed the President he would volunteer in any capacity, “even as a messenger boy.”


Throughout the first several months of 1942, Byrnes worked closely with the President and his aides. In fact, it was Byrnes who pushed aggressively for a domestic economic czar. Byrnes sent a memo to Harry Hopkins, FDR’s closest adviser, arguing for such a position. Byrnes pointed to the chaos and confusion of the overlapping federal agencies on war mobilization, many of which had been created haphazardly in the previous months and years as the possibility of war loomed. Power and authority needed to be centralized in one man, Byrnes urged. The individual should be somebody close to FDR, somebody FDR fully trusted. “Call him Hopkins,” Byrnes said in a lighthearted reference to the President’s associate as the ideal type of candidate. When Byrnes learned that Hopkins had not even forwarded his memo, Byrnes brought it directly to the President. Four days later, FDR appointed Nelson to the post.


Just as with the First War Powers Act, Byrnes played a major role in drafting the Second War Powers Act, enacted on March 27, 1942. The law provided FDR and his executive departments and agencies with sweeping powers on an astonishing range of subjects—from seizing property for “military, naval, or other war purposes” to compelling “the joint use of equipment, terminals, warehouses, garages, and other facilities”; from expanding financial power to relaxing the naturalization requirements for any noncitizen who “serves honorably in the military or naval forces of the United States during the present war”; from waiving “navigation and inspection laws” to using Civilian Conservation Corps workers “to protect the munitions, aircraft, and other war industries.”


In the Senate, Byrnes had been a master tactician regarding the federal government’s organization. Before joining the Court, he had successfully steered a massive government reorganization bill enhancing the President’s authority. He now used that insider’s knowledge in crafting a bill expanding war powers throughout the massive Executive Branch.


It was widely known that Byrnes was working with the President and his Administration on war legislation. News accounts included general references to his role. One article reported, “Justice James F. Byrnes has become an intermediary between congress and the White House.” And one columnist noted that Byrnes was devoting so much “time to the war program at the request of the president” that “his secretaries at the court haven’t had as much work to do as the secretaries of the other justices.… The latter group therefore are taunting the idle secretaries: ‘They’re fiddling while Byrnes roams.’”
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Byrnes’s White House activities were so consuming that they prevented him from being at the Supreme Court for the announcement of a significant opinion on January 12, 1942—even though the opinion was his own.


The case concerned Ira Taylor, a Black laborer in Georgia. He had been convicted of violating a Georgia law that made it a crime for a worker to receive advance payment and then either not complete his work or not pay the money back with interest. Routine employment disputes thus became a cudgel of criminal law, used to force involuntary labor by those who could not afford repayment.


The Supreme Court unanimously struck down the Georgia law as an unconstitutional “peonage” law that violated the Thirteenth Amendment’s ban on slavery and involuntary servitude. Although race was never mentioned in the Supreme Court’s Taylor v. Georgia opinion, it was an obvious subtext. Taylor’s Supreme Court brief prominently noted his racial identity, discussed the effect of the law on African Americans in Georgia, and argued in the brief’s concluding sentence that striking down the peonage law would be “a second Emancipation Proclamation for the present debtor slaves in Georgia.”


The racial subtext made the identity of Byrnes as the opinion’s author particularly notable. As a politician, Byrnes was not quite in the category of bombastic bigots like his colleague Cotton Ed Smith of South Carolina or Theodore Bilbo of Mississippi. But Byrnes was fully in step with the white supremacist mores and policies of the ruling party in South Carolina. Byrnes’s Taylor opinion was short and to the point—and it delivered a fatal blow to the racially charged peonage law.


When the Court rendered the Taylor decision on Monday, January 12, Harlan Fiske Stone, rather than Byrnes, announced Byrnes’s opinion. One South Carolina newspaper reported that Byrnes had been too busy at the White House: he was “conferring with President Roosevelt on the problem of coordinating the nation’s war production.” In fact, at the very moment the Court announced his peonage decision on January 12, Byrnes was meeting with FDR to discuss Byrnes’s memo urging creation of a domestic wartime production czar.
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A short time later, the Supreme Court decided the case about World War I shipbuilding contracts that had irked Jimmy Byrnes when it was argued two days after the Pearl Harbor attack. But, ironically, the case turned out to have direct and immediate significance for the nation now in its second world war.


The issue was whether Bethlehem Steel Corporation could retain a lucrative 22 percent profit on its wartime shipbuilding activity for the government. Only six Justices participated in the case. Roberts was away performing his Commission duties, and Stone and Jackson had recused themselves because of their previous positions as Attorney General. A majority of the participating Justices held in a 4–2 decision by Hugo Black that the contract permitted the windfall: the government must be held to its bargain, and Bethlehem Steel could retain the profits, however exorbitant. But the Court had harsh words for wartime profiteering, which it called “scandalous.” Black’s opinion emphasized that Congress could mandate strict limits on profits. Even while rejecting the government’s position in Bethlehem itself, the Court was inviting aggressive new congressional action targeting the problem.


Felix Frankfurter, who had worked in the War Department in World War I, disagreed with the ruling. He was furious that, in his view, the shipbuilder was permitted to reap the benefits from gouging the government during the war. He pounded his fist on the bench as he read his dissent and stated, “The law is not so primitive [as to allow the windfall]… It is not difficult in these days to appreciate the position of negotiators for the Government in time of war and to realize how much the pressures of war deprive them of equality of bargaining power in situations where bargaining with private contractors is the only practicable means of securing necessary war supplies.”


Black’s majority opinion, with its invitation to legislative action, caused an immediate stir in Congress. The previous month, a little-known Senator from Missouri, Harry Truman, had released a major report focusing on the emerging problem of war profiteering. The Supreme Court’s opinion now directly sparked legislation addressing the problem. One Senator emphasized that, under the Bethlehem Steel decision, the country was “absolutely defenseless” unless it passed new legislation. Another confidently proclaimed, “If the provisions embodied in this bill had been the law at the time the Bethlehem Steel Co. made the contract, the decision of the Supreme Court would have been directly to the contrary.” Black, the former Senator, undoubtedly knew that his harshly worded opinion would spur prompt action from his former colleagues on this sensitive and vital war-related issue.


Once again, although one Justice wrote the opinion, another released it. This time, Stanley Reed announced Black’s decision. Black was two hundred miles away in Norfolk, Virginia, celebrating with Governors, Senators, Representatives, and high-ranking military and naval officials as they attended the launch of the Alabama, a new thirty-five-thousand-ton battleship named for the state Black had represented in the Senate.
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When Senator Hugo Black became FDR’s first Supreme Court Justice in 1937, the Alabama Senator had a secret: his relationship with the Ku Klux Klan. Revelations about that secret would rock the country soon after Black was sworn in as a Justice.


Black was the youngest of eight children, born in rural Clay County, Alabama, in 1886. As a child, he loved watching trials in the county courthouse, soaking up an atmosphere that included games of checkers and dominoes just outside the building. An avid bookworm, he attended Ashland College, went to Birmingham Medical College for one year, and then pursued his original passion, graduating from the University of Alabama School of Law in Tuscaloosa in 1906.


Black enjoyed a varied legal career in Birmingham—thriving in personal injury law, where he found it easy to connect with juries; serving as a police court judge for nearly two years; winning election as county solicitor (the public prosecutor position). In World War I he joined the Army, becoming a captain while serving stateside the entire time and then resuming his private law practice after the war.


In 1920, Black, then thirty-four years old, began courting a young woman who dazzled him from the moment he saw her. He soon married Josephine Foster, thirteen years younger than him and a glamorous descendant of prominent families in Alabama and Tennessee. In quick succession, Hugo and Josephine had two sons (Hugo Jr. and Sterling) and then, after a miscarriage and other frustrations over several years, a daughter (JoJo).


In 1926, Black ran for an open Senate seat. He won the contested primary and cruised to victory in the overwhelmingly Democratic state. Senator Black became a prominent populist, railing against corrupt businesses and unscrupulous lobbyists. Winning a second term in 1932, he enthusiastically supported the new President and his New Deal program.


In the midst of the 1937 fight over FDR’s controversial plan to pack the Supreme Court, Justice Willis Van Devanter, one of the archconservative Four Horsemen, announced his retirement, opening up the first Supreme Court vacancy of the Roosevelt presidency. FDR had promised a Supreme Court appointment to the Senate Majority Leader, Joe Robinson of Arkansas. But in July 1937, a sudden heart attack killed Robinson.


A few weeks later, FDR summoned Black to his White House study. The President showed him a Supreme Court nomination form and said with a gleeful twinkle, “Hugo, I’d like to write your name here.” Black responded, “Mr. President, are you sure that I’ll be more useful to you on the Court than in the Senate?” “Hugo,” replied FDR, “I wish you were twins because [the new Majority Leader Alben] Barkley says he needs you in the Senate, but I think you’ll be more useful on the Court.” Black accepted.


As always, FDR operated on multiple levels—what Frances Perkins called his “four-track mind.” He knew that Black would be a strong voice for upholding the legality of social and economic reforms at a pivotal point in Supreme Court history; at fifty-one years old, Black was relatively young; the South had almost no representation on the Court. And most deliciously for FDR, at a time when he was feuding with some Senators over his Court-packing proposal, Black had been one of the plan’s most aggressive and outspoken champions.


The next day, on August 12, in a surprise announcement on the Senate floor delivered by a White House messenger, FDR formally nominated Hugo Lafayette Black to replace Van Devanter. Four days later, the Senate Judiciary Committee approved Black’s confirmation.


The following day, the Senate considered Black’s nomination. Montana Senator Burton Wheeler later recalled that some Senators “felt Hugo went a little too far in support of Roosevelt and that on the Court he would vote the New Deal line.” Conservative opponents raised a legal objection—that Black was ineligible under the Constitution because the compensation for a Justice had been increased while he served in the Senate—but it gained little traction. More attention was paid to a charge by eccentric New York Senator Royal Copeland, described by the New York Times as an “ardent opponent of the New Deal” even though he was a Democrat. Copeland repeated rumors that Black once had belonged to the Ku Klux Klan and that the KKK had strongly supported his 1926 Senate campaign.


William Borah, a prominent Republican from Idaho and the “dean of the Senate” as its longest-serving member, opposed Black’s confirmation. But he rose on the Senate floor and rejected Copeland’s Klan attack. “There has never been at any time one iota of evidence that Senator Black was a member of the Klan,” Borah thundered. “Senator Black has said in private conversation… that he was not a member of the Klan.” Although Black did not publicly address the accusation, it seemed that the issue had been put to rest. The Senate voted 63–16 to confirm Black, with the opposition coming from ten Republicans and six Democrats.


On August 19, 1937, Black took his oath and became the seventy-sixth Supreme Court Justice and the first FDR-appointed Justice. One week later, he and Josephine set sail for a celebratory monthlong vacation in Europe; they would return shortly before the start of the new Supreme Court term on the first Monday in October.


Beginning on September 13, 1937, Ray Sprigle, a reporter at the Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, published a bombshell series of articles. Sprigle reported that Black had been a member of the Ku Klux Klan and had quietly resigned before the Senate campaign. After he won the Democratic primary, the Klan awarded him a “golden passport” (a lifetime membership) at an event Black attended, and, Sprigle said, Black accepted it. Sprigle’s series provided definitive proof—official Klan records—detailing Black’s past Klan membership and his close relationship with the Klan in the years before his first Senate victory. Sprigle’s articles would win him the Pulitzer Prize in 1938.


The Sprigle series ignited a political firestorm. Senator Royal Copeland, eagerly returning to the attack, announced that they must “keep this man from wearing the black robe of justice by day and the shameful white robe of the Klan in the dark of the night.” Besieged by reporters in London, Black refused to comment. So, too, did the man who appointed him, President Roosevelt. FDR kept a watchful distance, gauging whether Black could survive the controversy. When Black and his wife arrived back in the United States by ship at Norfolk, Virginia, on September 29, reporters mobbed them. Black continued his silence on the revelations but suggested that he would give a radio address.


Two nights later, at 9:30 p.m. Eastern time on Friday, October 1, Black took to the airwaves on a national radio broadcast. Fifty million people listened. In an eleven-minute speech, Black admitted that he had joined the Klan “about fifteen years ago.” But he maintained that he had resigned and cut all ties and that he had no continuing relationship with the Klan. He emphasized his progressive record in the Senate, voting with liberal Senators. He also professed support for “Negroes,” Jews, and Catholics. And he proclaimed, without a hint of irony, that “some of my best and most intimate friends are Catholics and Jews.” Although Black did not discuss his motive for joining the Klan, he later gave varying explanations, including that he was joining many organizations at that time for political purposes and that, for juries in his legal cases, he wanted to compete with opposing lawyers who belonged to the Klan.


Black’s speech received sharp criticism. Massachusetts Senator David Walsh, a Democrat who had not voted on the Supreme Court confirmation, declared that Black should have announced his resignation in his radio address: “If the President had known all the facts, he would not have named him” and the Senate would not have confirmed him. The New York Times decried Black’s nomination as a “tragic blunder,” calling it “a deplorable thing that a man who has ever taken the oath of allegiance to a sinister and destructive organization should now take his place on the highest court of justice in this country.” The Pittsburgh Post-Gazette editorialized, “The record of the past is unmistakable.… No man with that record ought ever to sit upon the highest court in the United States of America.” The Washington Post observed that Black “has now, too late, stripped off the mask to show the kind of man he really is”; resignation from the Court would be “the only adequate reparation which he could now make to the President, the Senate, and the Nation as a whole.”


But three days after his radio address, on the first Monday in October, Black took his seat on the Supreme Court bench. As he hoped, the issue died down and the controversy blew over.








[image: image]















Shortly after Black’s Bethlehem Steel opinion, the Supreme Court established a rare exception to the First Amendment’s protection of speech. It concerned the insult of calling somebody a fascist.


In Rochester, New Hampshire, a historic town in the southeastern part of the state, residents complained to the City Marshal that Walter Chaplinsky, a Jehovah’s Witness, was denouncing organized religion as he distributed his sect’s literature on a public sidewalk in the center of town. At one point, when the Marshal approached him, Chaplinsky denounced the Marshal as “a damned Fascist” and “a God damned racketeer”; he added that “the whole government of Rochester are Fascists or agents of Fascists.” Chaplinsky was promptly arrested and charged with violating a New Hampshire law banning “any offensive, derisive or annoying word to any person who is lawfully in any street or other public place.” He was convicted and sentenced to six months in prison. Now he sought reversal on First Amendment grounds.


In an opinion by Justice Frank Murphy, the Supreme Court unanimously upheld Chaplinsky’s conviction. Murphy emphasized that, under the New Hampshire Supreme Court’s interpretation, the law prohibited only “fighting words”—“what men of common intelligence would understand would be words likely to cause an average addressee to fight”—and that such fighting words are not constitutionally protected. The First Amendment, Murphy continued, does not protect statements that “by their very utterance, inflict injury or tend to incite an immediate breach of the peace.… Argument is unnecessary to demonstrate that the appellations ‘damned racketeer’ and ‘damned Fascist’ are epithets likely to provoke the average person to retaliation, and thereby cause a breach of the peace.”


In early 1942, the Supreme Court needed little explanation to conclude that “fascist” was a quintessential “fighting word”—an early sign that the war would play an important defining role in shaping the Court’s doctrine and decisions.
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